I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Defendants and Appellants Puget Sound Physicians ("PSP") and 

Overlake Hospital ("Overlake") (collectively "Petitioners") seek review of 

the decision designated below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Petitioners seek review of the decision terminating review 

entered by the Court of Appeals on October 7, 2013 ("Decision") (copy 

attached as App. A). The Court of Appeals denied a timely motion for 

reconsideration by a summary order entered on December 5, 2013 (copy 

attached as App. B). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

During the trial of this medical malpractice case the trial court 

excluded photographic evidence, and expert testimony based on that 

photographic evidence, because the photographs had been disclosed late 

by one of the Petitioners. At no time during the trial did the court apply 

the factors required by Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 

933 P.2d 1036 (1997), even though the need to do so was repeatedly 

called to the court's attention. The court only addressed the Burnet factors 

after verdict and entry of judgment and in response to the Petitioners' 

motion for new trial, and in doing so used the wrong legal standard in 

finding the photographs had been willfully withheld. 

Although the Petitioners assigned error to these determinations, the 

Court of Appeals declined to decide the Burnet issue. Instead the court 

held that a trial court does not have to apply the Burnet factors where the 
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excluded evidence is irrelevant or subject to exclusion on a ground other 

than as a sanction for late disclosure. The Court of Appeals decided the 

autopsy photos were irrelevant, and also properly excluded under ER 403. 

These determinations raise the following two issues warranting this 

Court's review: 

1. Affirming the Exclusion of Evidence on Relevance 
Grounds. May the Court of Appeals uphold the exclusion of evidence on 
the ground the evidence is irrelevant, when (1) the respondent never 
objected on the ground of irrelevance, (2) the trial court never ruled the 
evidence was irrelevant, (3) the issue of relevance was raised for the first 
time by the Court of Appeals in its decision terminating review, and (4) 
the Court of Appeals' test for relevance conflicts with the liberal approach 
to relevance required by this Court's decisions? 

This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(4). 

2. ER 403 and Autopsy Photos. May autopsy photos be 
excluded under ER 403 on grounds of gruesomeness, given this Court's 
decisions holding that gruesomeness alone is not a valid ground for 
exclusion of photographic evidence, (1) merely because the photographs 
in question are autopsy photos as opposed to some other form of 
photographic proof, (2) the only specific gruesomeness concern can be 
alleviated short of wholesale exclusion, and (3) the only party at risk of an 
unfairly prejudicial response by the jury is the party offering the evidence? 

This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This medical malpractice case arose out of the death of Ms. Linda 

Skinner. The jury deliberated for four days, then rendered a divided 

verdict on the fifth day, 10-2 on liability and 11-1 on causation, in favor of 

the Plaintiff Jeffrey Bede, the Personal Representative of Ms. Skinner's 

Estate. CP 1034 (verdict form). 

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 2 

PUGOIO 0002 oj22cel7dm 



Ms. Skinner died of bacterial meningitis, several hours after she 

visited Petitioner Overlake's emergency room. The Estate contended that 

Ms. Skinner would have been saved if Dr. Laurie Anderton of Petitioner 

Puget Sound Physicians had ordered a lumbar puncture; according to the 

Estate, a lumbar puncture would have detected the meningitis in time for it 

to be successfully treated by antibiotics. See, e.g., RP (12/22111) 780:7-

21, 787:5-14, 792:11-22, 794:4-797:5 (Dr. Talan). The Petitioners 

disagreed, contending that Ms. Skinner was the victim of an abscess in an 

old acoustic neuroma surgical site, which burst into Ms. Skinner's brain 

while she was present in the emergency room, and which could not have 

been successfully treated even if it had been detected by a lumbar puncture 

(a procedure the Petitioners maintained was not called for, in light of how 

Ms. Skinner was presenting during the course of her visit to the 

emergency room). See, e.g., RP (12/29111) 1427:18-1429:4, 1435:19-

1436:13, 1436:25-1437:18 (Dr. Riedo). 

Ms. Skinner had undergone surgery several years before for the 

removal of an "acoustic neuroma," a noncancerous fibrous tumor located 

immediately adjacent to her brain. RP (12/29111) 1422:20-1423:1 (Dr. 

Riedo); RP (Amended Vol. 12) 2100:23-2104:7 (Dr. Wohns). The 

surgery site had been closed off in a second procedure, following leakage 

of brain fluid through the site. RP (Amended Vol. 12) 2104:9-2105:15, 

2106:16-2108:7 (Dr. Wohns). The parties agreed that the acoustic 

neuroma surgical site was the source of the trigger of the meningitis, but 

disagreed about the nature of this trigger. 
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Dr. Francis Riedo, an infectious disease specialist, testified for the 

Petitioners that an abscess -- "a collection of pus in a confined space" -

had developed in the site, and that this abscess burst into Ms. Skinner's 

brain soon after she presented at the emergency room. RP (12/29/11) 

1421:22-1422:14, 1427:18-1429:4, 1480:10-11. According to Dr. Riedo, 

the bursting of this abscess resulted in an untreatable form of meningitis. 

!d. 1435:19-1436:13, 1436:25-1437:18. Also according to Dr. Riedo, the 

bursting of the abscess caused an improvement -- albeit temporary -- in 

Ms. Skinner's symptomology inconsistent with meningitis, which 

supported Dr. Anderton's decision not to order either a lumbar puncture or 

treatment with antibiotics. !d. 1428:1-6. 

Ms. Skinner's brain had been autopsied, and the Petitioners sought 

to support Dr. Riedo's thesis with some of the photos taken during the 

autopsy. The autopsy report itself was introduced into evidence, but the 

Estate contended that a reference in the report to "purulent matter" could 

have been describing debris left over from the acoustic neuroma surgery, 

rather than pus. See RP (1/3/12) 1671:3-13 (Dr. Loeser); see also Def. Ex. 

104 (autopsy report at 4). Dr. David Talan, the Estate's primary expert on 

causation and standard of care during its case-in-chief, agreed (1) an 

abscess is a collection of pus in an enclosed space, and (2) the bursting of 

an abscess into the brain is almost always fatal. See RP (12/22/11) 801:6-

7 ("[a]n abscess is pus surrounded by tissue"); !d. 799:9-18 (the rupture of 

an abscess into the brain "is usually a rapidly fatal problem"). But Dr. 

Talan disputed whether "true pus" was shown to be present in the acoustic 
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neuroma surgical site. 1 Dr. Riedo was prepared to testify that the autopsy 

photos confirmed the presence of an abscess in the acoustic neuroma 

surgical site, which doomed Ms. Skinner when it burst into her brain? 

The autopsy photos had been sought during discovery by PSP3 but 

had not been produced by Overlake by the close of discovery.4 Two 

weeks before trial, after the deadline for final listing of trial exhibits 

established by King County Local Civil Rule 4(j), the Estate disclosed a 

new expert opinion disputing whether pus was present in the acoustic 

neuroma surgical site, and therefore whether an abscess had burst from 

1 See RP (12/22/11) 820:13-821:6 (Dr. Talan). The Estate contended that bacteria had 
leaked into her brain due to "barotrauma" (a change in air pressure) experienced during 
air travel to Seattle a few days before. The Estate also disputed whether an abscess 
within Ms. Skinner's brain had burst, even though Dr. Riedo's thesis did not involve the 
bursting of an abscess within the brain but rather the bursting of an abscess, located in the 
acoustic neuroma surgical site, into the brain. 
2 For example, Dr. Riedo would have pointed to the creamy substance clearly visible on 
some of the photos, in the immediate vicinity of the acoustic neuroma surgical site, to 
discredit the Estate's claim that what the pathology report referred to as "purulent matter" 
was actually surgical debris from the acoustic neuroma surgeries. See CP 1063-65 (Supp. 
Riedo Decl. at 3-5, ~~9-13). Dr. Riedo's opinion, that the photos showed pus in the 
immediate vicinity of the acoustic neuroma surgical site, was supported by Dr. Richard 
Wohns, a neurologist with extensive experience in brain surgery. See CP 1338-39 
(Wohns Decl. at 2-3, ~~4-9). 
3 Both PSP and the Estate sought production of Ms. Skinner's medical records from 
Overlake, but only PSP followed up those requests with a specific request for the photos. 
See CP 1955, 1969 (Estate and PSP initial requests); CP 2010 (PSP's supplemental 
request). 
4 Overlake submitted a declaration indicating that PSP's request for the autopsy photos 
could not be located in Overlake's counsel's files. See CP 1736 (Anderson Dec!. at 2, 
~5). There is no dispute that Overlake was in fact served with the requests. See CP 1382 
(Mcintyre Dec!. at 3, ~9), 1642-44 (proof of service). Nothing in the record would have 
supported finding that Overlake deliberately withheld the photos, and the trial court made 
no such finding. 
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that site into Ms. Skinner's brain. 5 One week before trial the Estate 

withdrew an expert opinion, disclosed prior to the Local Rule deadline, 

who had agreed that pus was present in the acoustic neuroma surgical site, 

and got into Ms. Skinner's brain from that site.6 PSP then contacted 

Overlake, which located and produced the photos to PSP and the Estate, 

and PSP notified the Estate that the photos would be added to the 

Defendants' exhibit list. CP 2028 (Anderson Dec. at 2, ~6); CP 2038-39 

(Mcintyre Dec. at 3-4, ~~9-11); CP 2046-47 (e-mail exchange between 

counsel). 

The morning ofthe first day oftrial (Monday, 12/19111) the Estate 

moved to strike the photos, on the grounds they had been produced after 

the close of discovery and in violation of a pre-trial in limine ruling 

barring any evidence not produced in discovery. RP (12119/11) 11:5-

12: 13. The trial court excluded the photos because they had been 

produced "too late."7 That afternoon PSP moved for reconsideration, 

5 This opinion was disclosed in a supplemental deposition of Dr. John Loeser taken after 
the Local Rule 4 deadline. For example, Dr. John Loeser testified that the "purulent" 
matter referenced in the autopsy report may actually have been surgical debris. See CP 
1147-48 (Loeser 12/5/11 Dep. at 123:12-126:4). 
6 Specifically, the Estate withdrew Dr. Richard Cummins as an expert witness, who had 
testified during a discovery deposition that pus from the acoustic neuroma surgical site 
got into Ms. Skinner's brain (although disputing whether this intrusion resulted in 
untreatable meningitis). See CP 1165-67 (Cummins Dep. at 36:1-37:10, 40:17-41:6), 
1172 (Cummins Dep. at 62:3-19); CP 2038 (Mcintyre Dec. at 3, ~9); see CP 1824 (Joint 
Statement of Evidence, filed 12/13/11, at 2) (omitting Cummins from the Estate's list of 
expert witnesses). 
7 RP (12/19/11) 13:20-25. The trial court made no reference to its pre-trial in limine 
ruling either at the time of the exclusion ruling, any other time during the trial, or in its 
orders denying the Petitioners' post-judgment motions for a new trial. Although the 
Estate urged the pre-trial ruling as an alternate ground for affirmance, the Court of 
Appeals did not rely on it. The Petitioners also note that the pre-trial ruling could not 

(Footnote continued next page.) 
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arguing the photos could not properly be excluded as a sanction for late 

disclosure under the factors first set forth in Burnet v. Spokane 

Ambulance. CP 857-81. The next morning the trial court denied 

reconsideration; the trial court did not apply the Burnet factors, but instead 

relied on King County Local Civil Rule 4 and found that PSP had failed to 

show good cause under that rule. 8 The trial court also excluded the photos 

under ER 4039 because some of the photos were gruesome. 10 The court 

stated that PSP's experts could instead use a "chart" to illustrate their 

testimony. 

Two days later (Thursday, 12/22/11), PSP renewed its motion for 

reconsideration. PSP provided a declaration from Dr. Riedo stating that 

the photos confirmed and strengthened his opinions. CP 963-67. PSP 

constitute a valid ground for exclusion in light of this Court's recent decision in Jones v. 
Seattle,_ Wn.2d _, 314 P.3d 380, 2013 WL 6504364 (Dec. 12, 2013). 
8 The Estate maintains the trial court did apply the Burnet factors, and has cited RP 
(12/20111) pages 282 through 286 as showing such application did occur. No such 
application is to be found on those pages, or anywhere else during the course of the trial. 
A copy of those pages is attached as App. C. 
9 Although the Estate's counsel had made a passing reference to the photos being 
"gruesome" when moving to strike them the day before, the Estate had not referenced ER 
403 in its motion that day and the trial court at that time gave no reason for excluding the 
photos besides their having been produced "too late." See RP (12/19111) 11:5-12:13 
(motion), 13:20-25 (ruling). In a brief filed the next morning responding to PSP's motion 
for reconsideration, the Estate for the first time argued the photos should be excluded 
under ER 403. See CP 906 (Estate's memorandum re: autopsy photos at 3). 
10 The only specific reason the trial court gave for excluding the photos due to 
gruesomeness was that some showed Ms. Skinner's skull with hair attached. See RP 
(12/20/11) 286:5-8. The trial court questioned why the photos were probative because it 
questioned the adequacy ofthe representations made by PSP's counsel in PSP's briefing 
submitted in support of its motion for reconsideration -- which had been submitted before 
the Estate argued for exclusion under ER 403 -- but then assumed the photos were 
probative in making its ER 403 ruling. See RP (12/20/11) 285:18-286:8. The trial court 
did not find that the photos were inadmissible because they were irrelevant. 
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assured the court that there would be no need to use any of the photos that 

raised the specific gruesomeness concern -- depictions of the skull with 

hair attached -- identified by the court. CP 961. PSP also argued that, as 

the defendants would be taking the risk of offending the jury by 

introducing what some might find to be "gruesome" evidence, the Estate 

had no standing to object under ER 403 because it could not be unfairly 

prejudiced by the evidence. Jd ("[l]f anyone is concerned about shock, it 

would be PSP"). The trial court did not address the issues raised by this 

motion, instead ruling five days later (Tuesday, 12/27111) that the photos 

would now be excluded because of a supposed violation of the trial court's 

12/19111 exclusion ruling. 11 

As stated, the jury deliberated four days, rendering a divided 

verdict on liability and causation on the fifth day. 12 Following entry of 

judgment, the Petitioners moved for a new trial, which was denied. 13 The 

Court of Appeals affirmed. 

11 See RP (12/27111) 986:2-9. This ruling was based on the court's misapprehension of 
two questions asked by PSP's trial counsel of Estate expert Dr. Talan. During cross
examination of Dr. Talan on the fourth day of trial (Thursday, 12/22111), counsel, 
following up a question from a juror on another issue, asked Dr. Talan whether seeing an 
autopsy photo would help and whether Dr. Talan had seen autopsy photos in this case. 
The trial court stated that asking a question about autopsy photos in general would not 
have violated the exclusion ruling, but that the court's "notes" showed that counsel had 
asked about "the" autopsy photos. The trial court's notes were wrong, as the transcript 
conclusively establishes. Compare RP (12/22/11) 910:18-19 & 21-22 (counsel's 
questions) with RP (12/27/11) 984:22-986:1 (ruling). The Court of Appeals expressly 
declined to rely on this ruling as an alternate ground for affirmance. 
12 The jury awarded $3,000,000 of the $7,000,000 in damages requested during the 
Estate's closing argument. 
13 The trial court entered two orders in denying a new trial, in the second of which the 
court addressed the Burnet factors. See CP 1354-69 (primary order); CP 1370-73 (supp. 
order) (copies attached as App. D and E, respectively). In the second order the court 

(Footnote continued next page.) 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Trial Court Failed to Timely and Properly Apply the 
Factors Required by Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, When the 
Court Excluded Autopsy Photos and Related Expert 
Testimony as a Sanction for Late Disclosure. 

Once again this Court confronts a King County Superior Court 

decision to exclude evidence as a sanction for late disclosure, without first 

applying the factors required by Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance and its 

progeny. The record leaves no reasonable doubt on this point. 14 

First, the trial court excluded the autopsy photos simply because 

they had been produced "too late." RP (12/19/11) 13:20-25. Then, after 

PSP moved for reconsideration and raised the Burnet factors requirement, 

the trial court declared the issue was governed by King County Local Civil 

Rule 4 and upheld its earlier ruling based on the Petitioners' supposed 

failure to meet their burden under that rule to show good cause for why the 

photos should not be excluded. 15 And despite PSP twice more renewing 

stated it believed it had addressed the Burnet factors during the course of the trial, but, as 
previously indicated, the court in fact had not addressed the Burnet factors at any point 
during the trial and only did so in denying the Petitioners' post-judgment motion for a 
new trial. The court also incorrectly stated in its primary order that it had denied PSP' s 
12/22/11 motion for reconsideration of the court's ER 403 ruling, when in fact the court 
never ruled on that motion or addressed the issues raised by that motion (e.g., that the 
Petitioners would not need to use any of the photographs showing Ms. Skinner's skull 
with hair attached). 
14 The Estate has claimed that the trial court did apply the Burnet factors, but this claim 
rests on a plainly untenable reading of the trial record, particularly RP pages 282 through 
286, review of which will conclusively establish that no application took place. See App. 
C (copies ofRP 282-286). 
15 In finding lack of good cause, the trial court ignored that the need for the photos only 
arose after the Estate changed its theory of the case by disclosing new opinions from Dr. 
Loeser and withdrawing those of Dr. Cummins, which as shown happened just before 
trial and after the local rule deadline for submitting fmal exhibit lists. 
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the issue, the trial court never during the course of the trial ever addressed 

the Burnet factors. The court did so only in response to the Petitioners' 

motion for new trial, and then it confused willfulness (the Burnet standard) 

with lack of good cause (the local rule standard). 

The trial court thus triply erred. First, the court erred when it 

excluded the autopsy photos without first doing a Burnet analysis. Jones 

v. Seattle,_ Wn.2d _, 314 P.3d 380, 2013 WL 6504364, *11, ~48 (Dec. 

12, 2013) (holding a trial court errs when at trial it excludes evidence -

there, three witnesses -- as a sanction for late disclosure "without a 

complete Burnet inquiry"). Second, the court did not address the Burnet 

factors until after verdict and judgment, violating the "backfilling" 

prohibition laid down by this Court in Blair v. TA-East Seattle No. 176, 

171 Wn.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011). Third, when it belatedly addressed 

the factors, the court erred when it equated willfulness with a failure to 

show good cause. Jones, 2013 WL 6504364, * 13, ~57 (Dec. 13, 2013) 

(holding a trial court errs when it excludes for lack of good cause: "Under 

Burnet, this is not an adequate finding of willfulness"). 

The Petitioners assigned error to the trial court's mishandling of 

the Burnet requirements. The Court of Appeals declined to decide the 

merits ofthat issue, ruling that the trial court's exclusion decision could be 

upheld on two alternate grounds. The Petitioners seek review of those 

determinations, and address them in Argument Sections B and C of this 

Petition. Because the Court of Appeals' decision did not address the 

merits of the Burnet issue, the Petitioners do not believe that issue is a 
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proper basis for requesting review under RAP 13.4(b). Nonetheless, 

should this Court grant review, the trial court's handling of the Burnet 

requirements will need to be addressed should this Court agree with the 

Petitioners that the Court of Appeals erred in upholding the exclusion of 

the autopsy photos and related expert testimony on the alternate grounds 

of relevance and ER 403. See RAP 13.7(d). 

B. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding that the Trial Court's 
Exclusion Ruling Could Be Upheld on the Ground that the 
Excluded Evidence Was Irrelevant. 

The Court of Appeals stated that the trial court correctly excluded

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