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

court's ruling to exclude the photographs under the circumstances here 

does not implicate the Burnet factors." !d. at 44. That is so, the Court of 

Appeals explained, for two reasons: (1) because the Burnet framework 

does not apply to evidentiary rulings (as opposed to rulings imposing 

sanctions under CR 37(b)) and (b) because "[t]his case involved none of 

the harsher sanctions-dismissal, default, witness or testimony 

exclusion-discussed in Burnet .... " !d. (citing additional cases). Lastly, 

the Court of Appeals added: "Even assuming error in excluding the 

photographs, any error was harmless and, thus, not a basis for reversal." 

!d. at 48. Defendants then filed a motion for reconsideration, which the 

Court of Appeals denied, and they now seek discretionary review. 
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III. APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW 
SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court Of Appeals' ER 401 Analysis Is Correct, And It 
Does Not Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court Or Raise 
Any Issue Of Substantial Importance That Should Be 
Determined By This Court. 

The first issue presented by defendants relates to the Court of 

Appeals' ER 401 analysis, which they claim "conflicts with this Court's 

liberal approach towards the admissibility of expert testimony" and also 

raises an issue of substantial importance that should be determined by this 

Court. Pet. 13, 15. As set forth below, both assertions are incorrect. 

Defendants contend, at the outset, that the Court of Appeals' ER 

40 1 analysis is "wrong" because "the trial court made no such a ruling." 

Pet. 11. That, too, is incorrect. The trial court noted that the "crux of the 

dispute" here was "not whether pus migrated from an old surgical site into 

Ms. Skinner's brain" but rather "when this infiltration of pus occurred and 

how rapidly it occurred." CP 1366 (emphasis added). The court then 

noted that "[n]one of the expert declarations submitted by PSP 

demonstrate how any of the autopsy photos definitively answers this 

question." I d. (emphasis added). While the trial court did not ultimately 

exclude the autopsy photos on ER 401 grounds, it nonetheless 

recognized-as the Court of Appeals correctly noted (Pet. App. A at 43)-

that the photos did not make the "existence of any fact that is of 

consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less 
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probable." ER 401 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals could 

properly affirm on that basis. See Otis Housing Ass 'n v. Ha, 165 Wn.2d 

582, 587, 201 P.3d 309 (2009) ("We may affirm the trial court on any 

grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record." 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). 

The record amply supports the Court of Appeals' ruling. Far from 

disputing the presence of pus in the area of Ms. Skinner's old surgical site, 

plaintiff agreed that pus was present there, both by offering evidence 

confirming that point and through expert testimony. Plaintiffs Trial Ex. 

1, p. 99; RP 811:2-812:8 (plaintiff's expert Dr. David Talan, answering 

"yes" when asked whether the old surgical site contained pus as well as 

bacteria); RP 1707:14-18, 1708:19-25 (plaintiffs expert Dr. John Loeser, 

agreeing that the area of Ms. Skinner's old surgical site from which her 

meningitis developed contained pus). The dispute, as noted above, 

centered on the testimony of Dr. Riedo, who unlike defendants' other 

experts claimed that an "abscess" near Ms. Skinner's ear burst while she 

was in the emergency department on the morning of January 26, 2010 and 

rapidly spewed pus and bacteria into her brain, causing "instant 

meningitis" and death, regardless of treatment. RP 1435:19-1437:19. As 

both the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded (and as 

common sense confirms), the autopsy photos have no probative value on 

that disputed timing issue. Pet. App. A at 40; CP 1366. 
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Defendants next claim that "[t]he Court of Appeals repeatedly 

emphasized that the autopsy photos were not 'necessary' to Dr. Riedo's 

ability to testify to his theory of the case" (Pet. 12 n.18 (citing Pet. App. A 

at 26, 29, 47 n.33)), and they argue that this alleged "necessity test" 

"conflicts with this Court's well-established liberal approach to relevance" 

(Pet. 12). This argument seriously misconstrues the Court of Appeals' 

ruling. On each of the pages cited by defendants, the Court of Appeals 

either quoted or recounted defendants' representations in the trial court, 

including their representation that the autopsy photos "were not 

necessary" to Dr. Riedo's testimony or opinion. Pet. App. A at 26, 29, 47 

n.33. That was defendants' word choice, not the Court of Appeals'. 

Instead, the crux of the Court of Appeals' ER 401 ruling is that 

"[t]he photographs depict nothing related to the crucial timing issue." Pet. 

App. A at 40. That "test" is entirely consistent with the cases cited by 

defendants, which hold that "[f]acts tending to establish a party's theory of 

the case will generally be found to be relevant" (State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 

692, 703, 718 P.2d 407 (1986) (Pet. 12)) and that expert testimony, to be 

admissible, must be "helpful" (Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 

Wn.2d 593, 606, 260 PJd 857 (2011) (Pet. 13)). Because the autopsy 

photos "depict nothing related to the crucial timing issue" (Pet. App. A at 

40), they did not tend to establish defendants' theory of the case and could 

not be helpful to Dr. Riedo or the jury. 
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In short, there is no conflict that could potentially warrant 

discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). And for similar reasons, the 

Court of Appeals' ER 401 analysis does not raise any issue of substantial 

importance that should be determined by this Court. 

B. The Court Of Appeals' ER 403 Analysis Is Also Correct, And 
It Also Does Not Raise Any Issue Of Substantial Importance 
That Should Be Determined By This Court. 

The second issue presented by defendants relates to the Court of 

Appeals' ER 403 analysis. The trial court concluded that the autopsy 

photos were inadmissible under ER 403. RP 285:18-286:8. Defendants 

claim that the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed that ruling and that 

its alleged "mishandling of the application of ER 403 raises public interest 

concerns warranting review under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). " Pet. 17. 

Contrary to defendants' argument, the Court of Appeals' ER 403 

analysis is correct and does not raise any issue of substantial importance 

that should be determined by this Court. The Court of Appeals 

appropriately began its analysis by citing several cases, including this 

Court's opinion in Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 226, 867 P.2d 610 

(1994), holding that trial courts have "considerable discretion in 

administering ER 403" and "reversible error occurs only in the exceptional 

circumstances of manifest abuse of discretion." Pet. App. A at 46. The 

Court of Appeals then turned to probative value and unfair prejudice and 

explained that while defendants claimed in the trial court that they would 
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offer only six of the 17 autopsy photos, their supporting expert witness's 

declaration "failed to identify which particular photographs those were, 

nor did he specifically explain how particular photographs aided the 

defense's theory of the case." !d. at 27. Defendants ignore these points, 

which seriously undermine their arguments. 

But even putting these issues aside, the Court of Appeals correctly 

analyzed the ER 403 issue. Addressing probative value, the Court of 

Appeals concluded, as discussed above, that "the autopsy photograph 

evidence was not probative of the rupture causation theory in this case." 

!d. at 47. Turning then to unfair prejudice, the Court of Appeals 

concluded that the trial court had not abused its discretion in excluding all 

of the autopsy photos under ER 403 because "[t]he color autopsy 

photographs of the area near Skinner's brain are undeniably gruesome" 

and the other "photographs-regardless of which ones are selected-are 

no less gruesome and disturbing." !d. Far from "mishandling" this issue 

(Pet. 17), the Court of Appeals, like the trial court (RP 285:18-286:8), 

addressed all of the pertinent ER 403 considerations. 

Also like the trial court's analysis, the Court of Appeals' decision 

is consistent with relevant case law. In State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 

160, 892 P .2d 29 (1995), for example, this Court recognized that autopsy 

photos "should not be admitted when the same information could be 

revealed in a nonprejudicial manner." The court similarly ruled in State v. 
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Sargent, 40 Wn. App. 340, 348-49, 698 P.2d 598 (1985). Consistent with 

this legal principle, the trial court invited defendants to use diagrams and 

illustrations to support their experts' testimony and defendants did so. RP 

286:9-12; Defendants' Trial Exs. 130A-141A, 144. 1 These authorities 

amply support the Court of Appeals' analysis. 

Defendants nevertheless assail the Court of Appeals for allegedly 

relying on "gruesomeness alone" to affirm the trial court's ruling. Pet. 16. 

But the Court of Appeals did not rely on gruesomeness alone. In addition 

to acknowledging the applicable standard of review (Pet. App. A at 46), 

the Court of Appeals recognized that the autopsy photos were "cumulative 

of other evidence" and "not probative of the rupture causation theory in 

this case" (id. at 43, 47}-both of which are pertinent ER 403 

considerations. Equally important, the Court of Appeals recognized that 

ER 403 provides "many bases for exclusion of evidence other than unfair 

prejudice, including 'confusion of the issues,' 'misleading the jury,' or 

'considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of 

cumulative evidence'" and expressly held that "any of these ER 403 

1 In State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 870, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), this Court further 
explained that autopsy "[p]hotographs have probative value where they are used to 
illustrate or explain the testimony of the pathologist performing the autopsy." (Emphasis 
added.) Here, in contrast, defendants never called as a witness either the Overlake 
pathologist who did the first autopsy or the neuropathologist at Jolms Hopkins who did 
the special autopsy. 
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grounds could also support [the trial court's] ruling." !d. at 47-48 n.34. 

Defendants ignore this additional analysis. 

For similar reasons, the cases cited by defendants are inapposite. 

The Washington Supreme Court opinions cited by defendants (Pet. 16 

n.25) merely hold that a trial court does not abuse its discretion by 

admitting photographs that are both highly probative and gruesome. 2 

Each of these cases involves a trial court's case-specific balancing under 

ER 403 of probative value and risk of unfair prejudice. Simply because 

the trial courts in those cases did not abuse their discretion in admitting 

gruesome photographs does not mean that the Court of Appeals erred 

when it held that the trial court in this case did not abuse its discretion by 

excluding gruesome, duplicative, and irrelevant photographs of Ms. 

Skinner's head, skull, and brain. The out-of-state cases cited by 

defendants (Pet. 16 n.26) are likewise distinguishable. 

Nor is there any authority supporting defendants' misguided 

contention that plaintiff does not have standing to object to the photos on 

prejudice grounds. Pet. 17. Contrary to defendants' argument, plaintiff 

2 See Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co., 120 Wn.2d 246, 285, 840 P.2d 860 (1992) 
("Because the photographs are highly relevant to material issues ... their probative value 
is great."); State v. Vidal, 82 Wn.2d 74, 80,508 P.2d 158 (1973) (trial court did not abuse 
discretion in admitting photographs of victim's body in murder prosecution); Mason v. 
Bon Marche Corp., 64 Wn.2d 177, 178,390 P.2d 997 (1964) (photographs admissible "if 
they have probative value"); State v. Farley, 48 Wn.2d 11, 19, 290 P.2d 987 (1955) 
(photographs "had a probative value upon the questions of the identity of the victim, the 
means by which she came to her death, and the existence of intent"). 
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was not obligated to accept defendants' unsupported assertion that only 

they could possibly have suffered any adverse effect from the introduction 

of autopsy photos of Ms. Skinner's head, skull, and brain. Indeed, ER 403 

confirms this point by focusing on "the danger of unfair prejudice." 

(Emphasis added.) So long as any such "danger" exists, as it would here 

by dehumanizing Ms. Skinner and/or causing the jury to begrudge plaintiff 

for filing suit, a plaintiff can properly object on ER 403 grounds. 

Davis v. Wooster Orthopaedics & Sports Medicine, Inc., 952 

N.E.2d 1216 (Ohio Ct. App. 2011), cited by defendants on this point (Pet. 

17), is not to the contrary. In Davis, the plaintiff offered an autopsy 

photograph of his wife because the photograph "was probative of the 

mental-anguish element of damages because he saw his wife just before 

she died, looking the way she is depicted in the photograph." /d. at 1222. 

Because the photograph was "probative of Mr. Davis's mental anguish," 

the appellate court held that the trial court had not abused its discretion 

under Rule 403 by admitting the photo. /d. at 1223. Here, in contrast, the 

autopsy photographs were not offered by plaintiff to prove an element of 

his professional negligence claim. Instead, they were offered by 

defendants despite the lack of any probative value. Just as the defendant 

had standing to object in Davis, plaintiff had standing to object here. 

In sum, the Court of Appeals' ER 403 analysis is not only correct 

and consistent with relevant authority (including Brett, Sargent, and 
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Lord), it turns on the specific facts and circumstances presented in this 

case. The ER 403 analysis therefore does not raise any issue of substantial 

importance that should be determined by this Court. 

C. Defendants' Remaining Arguments-Regarding The Burnet 
Factors And Harmless Error-Similarly Lack Merit. 

Defendants acknowledge, as they must, that "[b ]ecause the Court 

of Appeals' decision did not address the merits of the Burnet issue, 

[defendants] do not believe that issue is a proper basis for requesting 

review under RAP 13.4(b)." Pet. 10-11. They nevertheless attack the trial 

court's Burnet analysis (Pet. 10) as well as the Court of Appeals' harmless 

error analysis (Pet. 18), thereby necessitating the following brief response. 

As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, the trial court was 

not required to consider the Burnet factors because the Burnet framework 

does not apply to evidentiary rulings and this case does not involve one of 

the "harsher sanctions-dismissal, default, witness or testimony 

exclusion-discussed in Burnet" and its progeny. Pet. App. A at 44. 

Even if the trial court was required to consider the Burnet factors, it did so 

multiple times, both during trial (RP 11:5-14:3, 282:22-286:12) and 

afterwards (CP 1370-73). Defendants challenge the analysis during trial 

(Pet. 9 n.l4), but they ignore this Court's holding in Jones v. Seattle, No. 

87343-7,2013 Wash. LEXIS 955, at *31 (Wash. Dec. 12, 2013), that trial 

courts can satisfy Burnet without "invok[ing] that case by name." They 

18 



then challenge the post-trial analysis as improper "backfilling" under Blair 

v. TA-Seattle East No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342,254 P.3d 797 (2011) (Pet. 10), 

but Blair held only that the reviewing court cannot backfill - not that a 

trial court cannot summarize and confirm its analysis in a post-trial order. 

Regardless, as to all of the above arguments (ER 401, ER 403, and 

Burnet), any trial court error was in any event "harmless and, thus, not a 

basis for reversal"-as the Court of Appeals also found. Pet. App. A at 

48. Although they now claim that the photos were extremely relevant to 

their theory of the case, when defense counsel was specifically asked 

whether Dr. Riedo could testify and give his opinions without the benefit 

of the photos he responded "absolutely," as they "were not necessary to 

his formation of his opinion." RP 979:13-980:2. In addition, the trial 

court invited defendants to use diagrams and illustrations to support their 

experts' testimony and defendants did so. RP 286:9-12; Defendants' Trial 

Exs. 130A-141 A, 144. The autopsy photos were cumulative of those 

exhibits and equally cumulative of the autopsy reports, which provide the 

same information in narrative form. Plaintiffs Trial Ex. 1, pp. 99, 1 00. 

Any alleged error was therefore harmless. 3 

3 See Saldivar v. Momah, 145 Wn. App. 365, 396, 186 P .3d 1117 (2008) 
(exclusion of cumulative evidence is hannless) (citing 5 Karl B. Tegland, Washington 
Practice. Evidence Law & Practice § 404.14, at 513 (5th ed. 2007)); Qwest Corp. v. 
Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 140 Wn. App. 255,260, 166 P.3d 732 (2007) ("Error 
without prejudice is not grounds for reversal, and error is not prejudicial unless it affects 
the case outcome."). 
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Although defendants recognize that harmless error review applies 

here, they suggest that the analysis should differ under Magana v. 

Hyundai Motor America, 123 Wn. App. 306, 94 P.3d 987 (2004), because 

the jury verdict was not unanimous. Pet. 18. The court in Magana did not 

so hold. Instead, it examined "the entire record" to determine prejudice

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